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 I am a woman with kidney 
failure and no hope of a 
transplant unless research 
progresses. I am covered in 
scars, unable to have children 
and my domestic life resembles 
a minor disaster zone.

Dialysis does not define  
me or control me, yet my  
entire life literally hangs on  
that machine.

Kidney disease is for life; 
transplantation or dialysis  
are not cures. 
Maddy Warren, kidney patient advocate
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Forewords 

Foreword from John Feehally 

This year we have continued to 
advance our knowledge of kidney 
disease by investing in vital research, 
by driving forward innovation, and 
by expanding our collaboration and 
partnership working.

We have invested an additional £8 million into 59 
high quality research projects. We continue to play  
a lead role in the renal research sector with an active 
programme of investment of more than £14 million 
in current research projects.

We have focused on establishing beneficial 
collaborations and partnerships; this work has 
been fruitful. Our support for sharing expertise and 
building kidney research capacity is already creating 
opportunities.

We have made further progress in partnering with 
the pharmaceutical industry to establish and launch 
NURTuRE, the first kidney biobank covering England, 
Scotland and Wales. This project will provide a 
vital resource for researchers helping to accelerate 
innovations that will benefit patients.

Uniting with Kids Kidney Research marked a special 
milestone for both of our charities. Together we 
have funded over a century’s worth of pioneering 
research and advances in treatment. The strength of 
the merger has led to the release of new money for 
dedicated paediatric research.

By working together with the very best experts in 
industry, academia, and the charitable sector, we are 
deepening our understanding of kidney disease. We 
are now in a strong position to accelerate our focus 
on the critical area of prevention.

Together we are stronger

Professor John Feehally 
Chair of Trustees

Sandra Currie
Chief Executive

Foreword from Sandra Currie

The work of the charity is essential and 
it makes a real difference to patients 
and their families. We often fund 
research that might not otherwise 
happen, and include patients, carers and 
their families in developing our plans 
because they are in the best position 
to offer unique, invaluable insights. 
They are experts in their own condition. 
With a strong patient focus and active 
inclusion, research is improved, which 
in turn leads to better prospects for care 
and treatment for more kidney patients. 

This year we have worked hard to ensure patients 
continue to play an integral role with us. Whether 
that’s been through encouraging involvement in 
raising awareness of volunteering, or by helping to 
recruit patients to clinical trials, we continue to put 
patients at the heart of everything we do.

The good news is we can see a real change; more 
patients are involved in designing, implementing and 
evaluating research. Going forward this will invariably 
make those studies more effective and credible.

It was great to see the very generous contribution 
from Morrisons Foundation used to such good effect. 
Patient engagement days give the opportunity for 
researchers and patients to get involved together in 
conversations and research plans about their specific 
conditions.

Without the contribution of time, energy, funds and 
knowledge the patients, supporters and researchers 
all give us, the work of the charity would not have 
flourished in the past year. Thank you all for making it 
happen.
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Our vision

29,000 
people in the UK are on 
dialysis but only 5,000 
of them are on the 
transplant waiting list

38,000 people are alive today 
because they have been able 
to have a kidney transplant

Lives free from kidney disease

Worldwide an estimated  

1million 
people die each year from 

untreated kidney failure

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) affects  

1 in 10
in the general population 

Diabetes is the  
single most common  

cause of end-stage kidney 
disease in the UK.  

Over 25% 
of new patients needing 
dialysis or a transplant,  

are in this position  
due to diabetic  
kidney disease

TOGETHER WE CAN STOP KIDNEY DISEASE IN ITS TRACKS

The total number of people on the 

waiting list for a kidney 
transplant is around 5,000 The cost of dialysis  

in the UK is approx. 

£30,000  
per patient per year

£35,000  
for the first year, then approx. 

£7,000  
per year

The cost to the NHS of each 
transplant is approx.

People from black, Asian and minority ethnic communities are up to 

FIVE TIMES
more likely to experience kidney failure

BAMEOTHER
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Our impact in research
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 Knowing that 10 years ago 
my baby probably wouldn’t have 
survived just proves the need 
to continue to fund research. I 
honestly believe that another 
10 years of kidney research will 
push treatments so much further 
than anyone can imagine. 
Chloe Laurence, mother of kidney patient Finlay

 Finlay (R) with twin brother Oscar (L)
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 Goal
Increase how much we invest in paediatric research.

 Progress
Our determination to develop our investment in this area saw a 
spend of £2.1 million in paediatric research in our grants rounds. 
Following the successful completion of our merger with Kids 
Kidney Research, we boosted this further with the launch of a 
new call with a designated fund of £500,000, bringing the total 
investment in the year to £2.6 million. 

The projects that benefited from this call include: 

c  Professor Detlef Bockenhauer at UCL Centre for Nephrology 
is examining gene mutation in newborn babies which causes 
polycystic kidneys to form. This can result in kidney failure, 
meaning the baby will need dialysis, or a transplant when they 
have grown sufficiently.

c  Dr Aoife Waters, UCL Institute of Child Health, is exploring new 
treatments for kidney scarring in children. 

c  Research by Dr Gavin Welsh from the University of Bristol aims to 
understand better why the kidney cleaning process is disrupted 
allowing proteins to escape into the urine, often preventing 
excess fluid from being removed, causing the body to swell.

 Future
We will accelerate our ability to tackle and, where possible, prevent 
childhood kidney disease by increasing our dedicated and core 
funding for paediatric research.

 Goal

Implement the first kidney biorepository  
for England, Scotland and Wales.

 Progress
In June 2017 we launched the biobank for chronic kidney disease 
(CKD) and idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Known as NURTuRE, 
the project will run over a five-year period and collect and store 
biological samples from 3,000 CKD patients and at least 800 adults 
and children with nephrotic syndrome. It will also have access to 
associated linked clinical data through the UK Renal Registry.

The cross analysis of biological samples alongside clinical data will 
enable the development of new biomarkers (indicators of disease). 
This will help identify patients who will benefit from better, earlier 
diagnosis, potentially meaning doctors can help patients improve 
their kidney function and slow down or crucially, prevent the 
progression of disease. This will also mean we can develop person-
specific new treatments, leading to better, healthier lives.

This biobank has been funded by forming a collaboration between 
AbbVie Inc, Evotec, Retrophin, UCB and Kidney Research UK to 
support the two initial projects.

Over 800 patients have agreed to their samples being taken.  
The first collection of samples will be available to researchers  
from early 2019.

 Future
We will complete the planned collection of samples within the 
NURTuRE resource and work to sustain the biobank ready for future 
research, including other kidney disease areas.

 Future
Next year we will answer more research questions by 
investing £8.6 million in research into 68 awards and grow our 
investment in future experts in kidney disease. In addition, 
we have ambitious plans to develop new ways of funding 
research that will create even greater growth at a faster pace 
over the coming years. 

How can we transplant highly sensitised patients? 

A milestone project is addressing the problem of patients 
who are highly sensitised due to their levels of antibodies. 
Antibodies fight foreign substances in the body. Highly 
sensitised patients with high levels of antibodies have 
little chance of a successful transplant as their immune 
system will attack a donated kidney. Around a third of 
people waiting for a kidney transplant in the UK are highly 
sensitised. This £500,000 research project, led by Dr Sian 
Griffin at Cardiff University, aims to accelerate progress 
so that those patients are able to have a successful 
transplantation, which the body doesn’t immediately reject. 
Her study will also provide insights into who is most at risk 
and enable a more personalised, patient-centred approach 
leading to more successful transplants for more people.

Why are kidney patients at extra risk from heart 
attacks and stroke?

With a grant of £40,000 Dr Ben Caplin at UCL London and 
his team are researching DNA modification in the arteries 
of patients with CKD. They are trying to understand why 
kidney damage causes changes to the DNA of artery cells 
meaning that the patients are at extra risk from heart 
attacks and stroke. The incredibly complex work means 
examining 800,000 different places on the DNA where the 
changes might be happening. The outcomes will build 
the knowledge needed to help prevent cardiovascular 
problems in kidney patients which cut too many lives short.

Photo ©
 Brendan Foster Photography

 Goal

Answer more research questions by  
investing £8.5 million in research.

 Progress
Although we didn’t reach our target, we were able to increase 
our investment in new research by 20% over last year. A total of 
£8.2 million funded 59 new research projects. Some investment 
was delayed until 2018/19 in our PIVOTAL anaemia project, 
and longer lead times in our NURTuRE biobank meant that 
investment in this will also carry forward. 
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 Being involved in this 
study has completely 
changed my outlook on 
medicine and made me 
realise I want to do more 
than just treat patients; I 
want to find new ways to 
treat patients better. 
Sanna Tahir, funded researcher, exploring 
transplantation in South Asian populations
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Using a recipient’s stem 
cells to recondition a 
donated kidney prior 
to transplant to help 
the kidney work better 
and last longer.

Making simple, small 
human kidneys in the lab 
for investigating renal 
diseases and testing new, 
better therapies.

Using cell-based 
regenerative medicine 
therapies to repair or 
regenerate damaged 
kidney tissue in the body 
and prevent/postpone 
dialysis or transplant.

Using bioengineering 
techniques to grow 
functional human 
kidneys from stem cells 
for eventual transplant 
into patients.

Using stem cells and 
cells from other parts 
of the body to engineer 
‘kidney substitutes’ to 
help improve dialysis.

WITHIN 5 YEARS

5–10 YEARS

10+ YEARS

Our vision for 
regenerative medicine

Can we use stem cells and other regenerative 
medicine therapies to understand, repair and 
replace kidneys?

The charity has supported the UK Renal Regenerative 
Medicine Network in raising its profile since its launch 
in 2016. This work has included building links across 
research institutes, with patients and potential funders. 
The network is identifying short and longer-term 
projects that will capitalise on the UK’s skill base and 
potential. 

How can we better use imaging technology to 
diagnose, monitor and benefit patients?

Imaging technology is the modern approach to non-
invasive, pain-free insights into the body. The charity 
supported the UK Renal Imaging Network (UKRIN) in its 
successful bid to receive a grant of £1 million from the 
Medical Research Council. A new infrastructure covering 
13 sites across the UK will develop a standard protocol 
approach for imaging, regardless of the type of machine 
used. This collaboration will help ensure imaging is 
used to its best possible advantage for as many kidney 
patients as possible, accelerating treatment and 
improving quality of life.

What is the best way to tackle scarring of the  
kidney (fibrosis)?

When scar tissue builds up in damaged kidneys 
due to disease, it can result in kidney failure. The 
scarring process is known as fibrosis. The focus for 
the fibrosis network this year has been on developing 
new priorities to accelerate the development of 
treatments. New collaborative approaches have also 
begun, for example testing markers indicating disease 
progression, using samples from NURTuRE and data 
and images from UKRIN.

 Goal

Identify the research questions that will help 
address priority areas in the fight against 
kidney disease.

 Progress
The charity supported new collaborations of clinicians, 
researchers and patients with specialist knowledge. These 
networks bring together the best minds and have gone 
on to set up world-leading research teams with the goal of 
identifying the big research questions; securing increasing 
levels of funding to accelerate the very best research and 
deliver even greater impact for patients.

We continue to work with dialysis and cardio-renal specialist 
groups to prioritise and progress new studies.

 Future
To secure increasing levels of funding we will continue to 
develop collaboration and partnership working so we can 
accelerate research to provide the best solution for patients. 
Supporting specialist networks will be integral to this.

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 | 9
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 Goal

Help communities that are at greater risk of 
kidney disease.

 Progress
We commissioned a “health inequalities” review, led by Dr 
Fergus Caskey and Dr Gavin Dreyer. Some communities and 
disadvantaged people are at greater risk of kidney disease 
and progress faster, needing dialysis and transplant sooner 
than other groups. Prepared in conjunction with clinicians, 
researchers and patients, the recommendations of this report 
will help us to review and inform our future health inequalities 
research and awareness work in order that we can ultimately 
show solutions for communities.

 Future
We will respond to the recommendations in the report, and will 
specifically identify what further research is needed to tackle 
these health inequalities, raising the profile of the area with the 
research community and beyond.

 Goal

Drive future benefit by developing partnerships 
with related organisations.

 Progress
We have progressed the formation of our strategic partnerships 
with other charities, namely Diabetes UK and the British Heart 
Foundation, and have started discussions with the Stroke 
Association and others. 

 Future
Accelerate our research into diabetic kidney disease, with the aim 
of reducing the numbers of people with diabetes who go on to 
develop kidney disease. The collaboration with Diabetes UK and a 
dedicated study group will make progress in this area more swiftly. 
We will continue to seek other opportunities with other partners.

 Goal

Identify people at greater risk from CKD.

 Progress
Our ASSIST-CKD project aims to identify those patients most 
at risk of progressing faster to kidney failure. As kidney disease 
can be a hidden condition, patients are often oblivious to 
kidney problems until they suddenly become seriously ill and 
urgently need life-saving dialysis. This can result in increased 
cardiovascular risk and patients responding poorly on dialysis, 
not to mention the emotional and financial strain of adapting to 
the huge change in lifestyle which dialysis brings. 

ASSIST-CKD is set up to improve collaboration between 
GPs, pathology labs and hospitals by using software to map 
data from routine blood tests and alert GPs to patients with 
deteriorating kidney function. The programme is running in 
13 sites across the UK. In Cornwall, the first site to implement 
ASSIST-CKD, more people with CKD are already less likely to be 
rushed onto dialysis as a result of a sudden crisis. 

IMPACT
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 Future
ASSIST-CKD is on track to complete during the next reporting year 
with the hope of proving the concept in order that it can be rolled 
out across the UK. This early detection and prevention work, 
along with the research potential of our biobank, will benefit even 
more patients in the future. 

 Goal

Improve quality of life for people on dialysis.

 Progress
Our ground-breaking PIVOTAL clinical trial aims to investigate the 
most effective amount of intravenous iron that kidney patients on 
dialysis should receive to help prevent anaemia, which can cause 
fatigue and weakness. Over the past year, PIVOTAL has continued 
to follow up its 2,141 recruited patients across 50 renal units in 
the UK. This has included monthly assessments, questionnaires 
plus, of course, having iron injections.

 Future
We will complete the PIVOTAL study into the best way to manage 
anaemia in people on dialysis and share its findings to improve 
treatment and care across the country. We will work with 
partners to develop research into improving the quality of life for 
dialysis patients, including the best ways to start treatment, and 
addressing the serious complications arising from dialysis.
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Our year in numbers

£8.2 patients 
recruited to our 
NURTuRE kidney 

biobank study

122

academic papers  
published by our 

researchers
people engaging with Kidney Research UK through social media

65,

77
£190,000

intrepid runners 
who ran the London 
Marathon, raising over 

the amount given by people who remembered us in their will
£3.8 milli   n

29,000 
supporters and 
patients helped with 
information by our 
Supporter Care team

7,600 
supporters who gave a 
regular gift, helping us 
increase research now 
and into the future

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 | 11

our  
investment in 
new research 
in 2017/18



12 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18

Our impact in raising awareness 
and patient engagement
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Impacting hard to  
reach communities
Our awareness work in at-risk communities has 
continued to grow in strength. In Scotland a range 
of activities have provided our peer educators 
with the opportunity to interact with South Asian 
communities. Meanwhile, we have jointly funded 
a project with the Department of Health, aimed 
at the Bangladeshi Muslim community in Tower 
Hamlets raising awareness of kidney health and 
disease, and increasing sign up to the Organ Donor 
Register. This has led to a planned partnership with 
the Tower Hamlets Local Authority next year to 
help sustain this important work.



 Goal

Raise the profile of kidney disease through  
our awareness work and by engaging with 
policy-makers.

 Progress
In the run up to World Kidney Day on 8 March, our campaign 
highlighting the achievements and daily struggles of women 
with kidney disease saw #mykidneyheroine nominations all over 
social media. The campaign provided a platform for individuals 
to share their stories on local radio and in press and contributed 
to a 9% increase in brand awareness in the same month. We led 
the collaborative World Kidney Day 2018 campaign through 
Kidney Charities Together. Over 200 awareness events were held 
around the UK, by patients, staff and volunteers across the renal 
community.

Our supporters play a vital part in raising awareness of the cause. 
For example, 17 year-old student, Einar Ossurarson decided to 
use his passion for radio to raise awareness and funds for us. 
Motivated by his grandfather’s battle with kidney disease, Einar 
hosted an eight-hour kidney marathon community radio show 
and interviewed a nephrologist and transplant surgeon.

In our policy work, we met with politicians including Fulton 
McGregor MSP, who visited the labs at Edinburgh University to 
see our research in action. Mr McGregor subsequently committed 
to helping the charity engage with the Scottish Government over 
accelerating renal research and regenerative medicine.

Working with our Lay Advisory Committee and other 
stakeholders, we contributed to consultations on prospective 
changes to consent in organ donation in Scotland and England, 
as well as being a major contributor to Eleanor Smith MP’s review 
of organ donation in black and minority ethnic (BAME) groups. 
We also engaged with MPs over changes in the way NICE reviews 
new drugs and their cost, which may disadvantage patients with 
rare diseases, and continued to help NHS England make the case 
for the availability of patient data in research.

 Future
We will continue to raise the profile of kidney disease in the UK 
and seek increased investment research into kidney disease by 
engaging with policy makers.
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The annual Pint of Science 
festival, held across the UK, 
sees researchers giving talks 
about their research in pubs 
and clubs. Partnering with the 
festival gives us an opportunity to 
showcase some of our top funded 
researchers, like Professor Rachel 
Lennon, and helps make science 
accessible to many more people.

 Goal

Reduce the health inequalities in treatment choice 
and organ transplants faced by certain communities.

 Progress
This year has seen our peer educator work further develop as a 
model to tackle health inequalities in disadvantaged and hard 
to reach communities. Our focus has continued to be on raising 
awareness of the health risk of kidney disease combined with 
promoting organ donation in at-risk communities. 

The success of our organ donation awareness work in Scotland, 
with over 600 people joining the organ donor register, has led to 
the Scottish Government asking us to work with them for a further 
two-year period.

 Our partnership with Kidney Research UK has grown 
from strength to strength over the last few years. The 
peer educators approach the subject of kidney health, 
organ donation and transplantation with the South Asian 
communities sensitively and enthusiastically, and have 
had much success at raising awareness and encouraging 
people to join the Organ Donor Register. 
Pam Niven OBE, formerly Programme Manager for Organ Donation 
and Transplantation, Scotland

 Goal

Increase our engagement with patients to 
enable them to discover more about innovation 
and research progress.

 Progress
We have continued to build the charity’s capacity for 
meaningful and effective engagement with patients. A grant 
of £20,000 from the Morrisons Foundation was instrumental in 
expanding our new Patient Information Day Grant Scheme.

At Patient Information Days, patients, carers, clinicians and 
researchers meet together to have informative discussions in 
supportive and friendly environments. The days are also key in 
engaging patients with current research and clinical trials.

Over this year, we covered important issues for patients 
including nephrotic syndrome, pregnancy and kidney disease, 
moving from child renal care into adult services, influencing 
effective patient-centred research and organ donation in BAME 
communities.

We also laid the foundations for a network of patient research 
representatives within the UK Kidney Research Consortium. This 
will make the patient voice stronger in research development.

 Future
We will increase our engagement with patients, ensuring they are more closely involved across all of our work, and we will aim to 
increase kidney patients’ influence on the research and kidney health agenda.

14 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
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 I trust medical 
research; one day it will 
find a cure for me. 
Ashleigh Taylor, aged 14, kidney patient
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Our impact in raising funds and 
managing our charity effectively
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 Three generations of my 
family have polycystic kidney 
disease. After 20 years as a 
volunteer, seeing many of 
those suffering from kidney 
disease benefit from the money 
raised is reward enough. 

Without us volunteers and 
the public’s support research 
cannot progress. I encourage 
others to help this worthy 
charity. Knowing in some small 
way I am making a difference I 
can look forward to a brighter 
future for my family. 
Rosalie, volunteer at Kidney Research UK



 Goal

Fund growth in our work by raising  
a total income of £10.7 million.

 Progress
We are delighted to report 
that income reached £10.7 
million, a 16.6% increase 
on the previous year. 
This is largely due to our 
fantastic supporters who 
generously raise funds 
and awareness across the 
country and in so many 
different and inspiring ways. 

Many take on remarkable personal 
challenges, like Russell Van 
Praagh who embarked on 
the ultimate physical and 
mental Ironman contest. 
His rare kidney disease was 
treated successfully. His father 
also lives with kidney disease and recently received a kidney 
donation from Russell’s brother. Russell was determined to 
fund vital research, and raised an incredible £36,000 from that 
one challenge.

Throughout the year more than 2,500 people walked, ran, 
swam, and cycled for us. #TEAMKIDNEY saw 77 runners 
compete in the Virgin Money London Marathon raising over 
£190,000 between them, a record sum.

Others use their interests and talents to work in their 
communities. Jenny Griffiths started fundraising after she had 
donated a kidney to her son David. She created and leads a 
team of fundraising volunteers in her local area in Wales and 
has raised over £39,000 for us in ten years.

Meanwhile, over 7,600 people quietly and loyally gave month 
by month to support our work through regular giving.

Whatever our supporters do for us, each and every one of 
them is making a difference to someone who has to live with 
kidney disease.

We have seen a strong increase in legacies and gifts in wills 
this year, with over £3.8 million generously donated. Kidney 
disease has touched many of these supporters’ lives.

The support of charitable trusts and foundations also has 
made a difference again this year. Funding through this route 
can be major investment in a specific project; smaller sums 
help purchase essential items, such as lab equipment. Many 
also choose to give every year, providing us with valuable 
unrestricted income to use where the need is greatest. 

Our ongoing relationship with the Masonic Charitable 
Foundation (MCF) resulted in a grant for young, aspiring 
researchers to study for a PhD, undertaking research into 
improving the wellbeing of people with kidney disease. This 
partnership will fund three PhD studentships over the course 
of five years, beginning 2018-19.

 Future
Raise a total of £11.2 million, while developing new ways to 
secure funding to significantly grow the level of investment in 
research and help us prevent kidney disease faster.

16.6% INCREASE 
ON 2016-17

TOTAL 
INCOME  
£10.7  
MILLION
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 There is nothing more 
terrifying than living 
with something there is 
no cure for, and that is 
unexplainable, but it’s 
equally not something 
that should be shied away 
from. It is something that 
should be embraced, and 
viewed as an opportunity. 
An opportunity to be less 
ignorant, to raise awareness, 
to make a difference. 
Grace Acklam, aged 17, kidney patient
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 Goal
Equip ourselves to achieve our ambitious aims by 
investing more in the training and development 
of our people. 

 Progress
This year we delivered over 130 training sessions to help our staff 
and volunteers continue to develop the skills and abilities needed 
to help the charity grow. A key focus in the year was to train all 
our staff and volunteers who handle our supporters’ data. This 
ensured that they are fully equipped to manage changes required 
by the new General Data Protection Regulation legislation and 
continue to take our supporters’ privacy very seriously, working to 
the highest standards. 

We undertake a regular staff survey and are committed to acting 
on the improvement areas that emerge. Working with Sam 
Attenborough at Birdsong Charity Consulting, we launched 
an initiative (known as ‘Nuthatch’) to help us explore ways to 
communicate more effectively – both within teams and across 
the organisation. Sam has continued to volunteer his time to lead 
further work addressing these issues in a positive way.

 Future
We will continue to help realise our ambitions by investing 
in developing our people to enable them to fully realise their 
potential in the charity. We will also develop our technology to help 
our people work more effectively and enable us to grow faster.

 Goal

Ensure the quality of what we do, whilst aiming 
to invest at least 75 pence in each pound we raise 
into our research and awareness work, with 25 
pence or less helping us to raise the next pound. 

 Progress
We’ve worked hard to ensure our expenditure is appropriate and is 
used to the greatest impact on patient benefit. We are pleased to 
report that of each £1, the proportion we invested in research and 
awareness increased by four pence in the year – up to 83 pence.

 Future
Uphold the quality of our work, whilst aiming to maintain a 
minimum investment of at least 75 pence in each pound we raise 
into research and awareness, with 25 pence or less helping us to 
raise the next pound.

 I’m delighted with 
how the organisation has 
responded; I have seen a 
tangible improvement in 
how individuals are  
working with each other. 
I’m looking forward to  
continuing this work. 

Sam Attenborough, Birdsong 
Charity Consulting
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Report from 
the trustees 
Financial review
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Where our income  
came from 
We are delighted to report that our 
income exceeded £10 million for the first 
time in the charity’s history, reaching 
£10.9 million. This is an increase of 
16.6% (£1.56 million) on 2016/17. We 
had a very good year for legacy income, 
which reached £3.8 million, 20% higher 
than the previous year. Progress on  
our collaborative projects raised  
£2.97 million. 

Elements of our fundraising were 
impacted by both the new General 
Data Protection Regulation legislation 
and by the level of resource needed to 
implement it. 

Our merger with Kids Kidney Research in 
the year saw the reserves from the charity 
come over as income of £993,000. This 
has been transferred into our restricted 
reserves to be spent on Kids Kidney 
Research Paediatric Research Awards, the 
first of which was made in January 2018.

Where the money is spent 
Our total expenditure for the year was 
£11.6 million split between research, 
awareness and education and investing 
to raise the next pound. Charitable 
expenditure reached £9.35 million in 
the year with an significant increase 
of £1.46 million (17.7%) in research 
spending.

We strive to work efficiently and invest 
as much as possible of each pound in 
research and raising awareness. We are 
pleased to report that the pence in the 
pound increased by 4 pence in the year. At 
this stage, we are not targeting to increase 
this number further. We aim to sustain 
both a high level of financial efficiency 
while also maintaining, and as necessary 
being able to invest in, high standards in 
our operations. 

Legacies  

£3.8 
million

Investment Income 

£400k

Trading

£561k
This includes the cost of running 
our charity shops and raffles.

Investment 
Management 
costs 

£28k

Trading Income  

£799k
This includes charity 
shop income as well as 
income from our raffles.

Awareness  
and Education   

£1.17 
million
This includes working 
with patients and 
raising awareness  
of kidney disease.

Donations and Gifts  

£2.95 million
This includes one-off donations as 
well as regular giving.

Research  

£8.18 million
This includes research and career 
development.

Trusts and  
Partnerships  

£2.97 million
This includes income to support our 
on-going projects such as PIVOTAL, 
Assist CKD and NuRTURE, the data and 
kidney biobank collaboration, and 
Stoneygate Trust income.

Generating Income   

£1.67 million

TOTAL  
EXPENDITURE

£11.6 
million

TOTAL INCOME

£10.9 
million
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Investments
The value of the charity’s investments 
portfolio rose to £17.5 million, with 
an increase in cash deposits of £2.77 
million following the merger with Kids 
Kidney Research and the transfer of the 
cash deposit. Investment income from 
the portfolio and cash raised £400,167. 

A withdrawal of £1 million was made 
possible due to the significant gain on 
the portfolio earned in the previous 
year. This was used to fund additional 
research and to underpin the funding 
of two projects including the NURTuRE 
project. The volatility in the market 
predominantly due to the equity 
correction at the start of 2018 resulted 
in an unrealised loss by the end of the 
year of £135,613. 

Financial Position
Total reserves at the end of the year 
totalled £10.1 million (£9.93 million 
2016/17) of which: £1.78 million are 
Restricted Funds; £6.2 million are 
Designated Funds; £2.1 million are General 
Funds. £8.5 million are Fixed assets.  See 
the Reserves Policy below for details.

Reserves Policy
The charity’s policy is to maintain the 
following reserves:

c  Restricted Funds

These are funds that have been donated 
to the charity for a specific purpose.

c  Designated Funds

These are funds identified and already 
committed for expenditure on research, 
awareness and education, and key 
operational commitments.

c  General Funds

These are funds available as reserves 
to meet any unforeseen circumstances 
which the charity may face. The 
benchmark for the charity’s General 
Funds has been set at 9 to 12 months’ 
of operating expenditure which is 
intended:

a)  to cover a period of continuity for 
key operations in the event of an 
emergency which stops the charity 
from generating voluntary income; 
and 

b)  to cover the eventual winding up 
costs of the charity should closure 
become necessary. 

General Funds were 11.3 months 
of operating expenditure and thus 
within the benchmark at year-end. This 
decrease from 22 months at the start 
of the year came from movements 
including an increase in unrestricted 
income received in the year from 
legacies, an increased spend on 
research of £1.6 million in the year and 
an additional designation of funds of 
£515K for research in 2018/19. The final 
change came from an unrealised loss 
of £136K in our investments this year 
against an unrealised gain of  
£1.5 million in 2016/17.

Pence in the pound 
invested in research and 
awareness in 2018:  

83 pence

Public Benefit
In reviewing aims, objectives and planning 
future activities, the trustees have taken into 
account the Charity Commission’s guidance 
on public benefit. The trustees ensure that 
the activities undertaken are in line with the 
aims of Kidney Research UK. 

Investment Policy
Reserves are supported by the charity’s 
investment portfolio which is actively 
managed on behalf of the charity by 
Cazenove Capital Management. During the 
year a comprehensive tender process for 
investment management was carried out 
in line with the charity’s policy of reviewing 
advisors on a regular basis. The selection 
panel comprised five of the Finance and 
Risk Committee, including two members 
with significant investment management 
experience. The existing providers were 
retained but with some changes to 
investment approach and reporting. 

The Finance and Risk Committee provides 
the mandate for Cazenove and monitors 
performance and position against agreed 
benchmarks. The investment objective is 
to maximise long term total return while 
maintaining a level of diversification and 
intermediate risk profile. The income 
requirement of £300K p.a. is available for 
investment in charitable expenditure. The 
mandate stipulates no direct investment in 
tobacco related financial vehicles. 

While maintaining an intermediate risk 
profile, the portfolio delivered income of 
£400K and total return, net of fees, of 1.5% 
in the year (16.7% 2017). This was against a 
benchmark of 2% (16.5% 2017). Over the last 
12 months investment performance has been 
down on 2016/17 with the equity market 
correction at the start of 2018 taking markets 
back to levels last seen in December 2016.

At close of business on the  
21 September 2018, the last business 
day before approval of these accounts, 
the investments had a market value of 
£17,467,019. This represents a rise in value 
of £763,654 since 31 March 2018.

Pence in the pound 
invested in research and 
awareness in 2017:  

79 pence
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Kidney Research UK is a company limited 
by guarantee, Company Registration No. 
00905963, and is registered with the Charity 
Commission 252892 (England and Wales) 
and SC039245 (Scotland). The charity is 
governed by its Memorandum and Articles 
of Association. In the event of the charity 
being wound up, company members must 
contribute £1. The wholly owned subsidiary 
company, Kidney Research Enterprises 
Limited, Company Registration No.2932606 
undertakes trading and retail activities for 
the benefit of Kidney Research UK.

Following the introduction last year of the 
Charity Governance Code, the trustees 
recognise the value the Code offers as a 
practical tool to help charities and their 
trustees demonstrate high standards of 
governance. The Code sets the principles 
and recommended practice for good 
governance and is a valuable device in the 
achievement of continuous improvement 
towards the highest standards of 
governance.
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Structure and Governance

 Kidney Research UK is 
committed to a systematic review 
of its governance on a regular 
basis. The Charity Governance 
Code (as endorsed by the Charity 
Commission) has been approved 
by the trustees as the most 
appropriate and useful framework 
with which to test and benchmark 
governance across the charity. 
Professor John Feehally, Chair of Board of Trustees
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People
Trustees

The following trustees were in office during the year and served throughout the year except where indicated.

TRUSTEES

Professor John Feehally (Chair) MA DM FRCP
Professor Fiona Karet PhD FHEA FRCP FMedSci 

Lorna Marson MB BS MD FRCSEng FRCSEd
Professor Adrian Woolf MA MD
Iain Pearson BSc
Federica Pizzasegola
David Prosser MSt (Cantab) FCA 
Anna-Maria Steel MA
Andrew Tripp
Dr Charles Tomson MA BM BCh FRCP DM
Tom Kelly 
Deirdre Jennings
Professor Sunil Bhandari MBChB, MRCP, PhD, 
MClin, Edu, FHEA 
Julia Moross ACA
Dr Jill Norman BSc PhD
Adrian Akers
Professor Jeremy Hughes MA MB BS PhD FRCPE
Dr Adnan Sharif MBChB, MRCP, MD

SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBER 

RSC, F&R & RC
RSC 

RSC
Chair RSC 
Chair F&R & RC
F&R
F&R

F&R
RSC

 

F&R
F&R

APPOINTED/RETIRED

Chair 
01/04/17 – 26/09/17 non-voting  
member due to planned sabbatical
Retired 05/12/17
Retired 22/03/18

Re-appointed for 3 years 27/09/17

Appointed 26/06/17
Appointed 26/06/17 

Appointed 26/06/17
Appointed 27/09/17
Appointed 05/12/17
Appointed 22/03/18
Appointed 22/03/18

Committee key

RSC Research Strategy Committee  |  RGC Research Grants Committee  |  F&R Finance and Risk Committee  |  RC Remuneration Committee 
The Past President of the Renal Association attends and contributes to Trustee Committee meetings and discussions

We aim to have 12 to 15 trustees at 
any one time although this may be 
exceeded for a short period where we 
want to secure continuity of knowledge 
between specific outgoing and incoming 
trustees. We monitor the mix of skills 
and length of service to ensure we keep 
a good balance on the Board and plan 
succession in a timely way. Trustees are 
encouraged to use their specific skills 
and experience in the charity and several 
are members of sub committees of the 
Board. Training is provided throughout 
their service. All instances where a 
trustee may have a conflict of interest are 
recorded and dealt with in a transparent 
way, in accordance with established 
procedures. The trustees set the strategy 
of the charity with the management 
team, and oversee its implementation by 
the management team. 

Trustees sit on the Board for three years initially. 
They can be re-elected for another three years 
after which they must retire from the Board. 
After a clear minimum gap of three years off 
the Board, trustees may elect for them to return 
for a three-year term – giving a total service 
to the Board of 9 years. The three-year gap 
ensures that the Board has been sufficiently 
changed in its membership from their previous 
period of service. 

Four sub committees working under terms of 
reference agreed with the Board support the 
delivery of the strategy.

c  The Research Strategy Committee sets the 
strategy for research funding.  

c  The Research Grants Committee, made  
up of both experts in kidney medicine  
and patients, reviews grant applications 
under a rigorous peer review process and 
recommend which research should be funded.

Senior  
Management Team

Remuneration 
Committee 

c  The Finance and Risk Committee 
monitors the charity’s performance, 
governance and areas of risk.

c  The Remuneration Committee oversees 
the charity’s remuneration policy and 
its implementation.

A Lay Advisory Committee, made up of 
kidney patients and other lay members, 
advises the charity and trustees on issues 
affecting kidney patients. Under terms 
of reference agreed by the Board, the 
committee gets involved in many charity 
activities including promotion of its 
work to the wider community, providing 
patient input to public consultations, 
reaching out to other patient groups, 
acting as a sounding board for research 
ideas and plans and representing the 
charity at events. The committee has 
between 15 and 25 members.

Research Strategy 
Committee 

Research  
Grants Committee

Finance and Risk 
Committee

Trustee Board
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Key Management 
The Senior Management Team directs 
the charity on a day to day basis. This 
team comprises: the Chief Executive, 
Directors of Finance, Research Operations, 
Communications, Research Development, 
Fundraising, Head of Human Resources 
and Head of Insight and Engagement. 

Remuneration and Staff 
Development
Remuneration
The charity’s policy on remuneration is 
guided by the following principles: 
1    Fairness to employees, supporters  

and patients; 
2    Recruitment, motivation and 

retention of the appropriate calibre 
of staff without paying more than 
necessary;

3     Recognition and reward of 
contribution to the charity; 

4    Compliance with current legislation  
e.g. Minimum wage;

5    Recognition of best practise in the 
charity sector including transparency  
to staff and other stakeholders. 

The Remuneration Committee meets 
at least annually and advises on the 
remuneration policy of the charity. The 
committee oversees its implementation by:

c  Agreeing the charity’s overall approach 
to remuneration including relative 
position within the labour market, 
employee benefits including pension 
provision, and reviewing levels and pay 
ratios across the organisation;

c  Reviewing from time to time, and at 
least every three years, pay and benefits 
trends and benchmark pay rates and 
benefits, within the voluntary sector;

c  Reviewing the annual recommendation 
from the CEO for general salary 
changes;

c  Monitoring the remuneration of 
the Senior Management Team, 
benchmarked against independent 
external data;

c  Agreeing the remuneration of the CEO 
in the context of market rates and 
benchmarks, personal performance, the 
scope and complexity of the role and 
affordability.

Staff Development
Continuing on from the previous year, 
training and development of our team, 
both on a personal and professional level, 
was set as a goal for 2017/18. In the year 
the team benefited from 130 individual 
training opportunities including training 
in leadership, management and coaching 
skills and GDPR. 

We also undertook our regular 
biennial independently managed 
staff satisfaction survey. The results 
were very favourable compared to 
the previous survey and against other 
charities and highlighted the elements 
of Kidney Research UK which staff enjoy 
as well as identifying areas for further 
improvement. Working with Birdsong 
Charity Consulting, we launched an 
initiative (known as ‘Nuthatch’). Led 
by Sam Attenborough, on a generous 
pro-bono basis, this work aims to create 
a safe environment in which individuals 
are able to improve communication 
both within their teams and across the 
charity and to explore ways to support 
each other by addressing challenges in a 
positive way.

Grant Making 
There is a formal and consistent 
approach applied to grant making in 
the charity. Applications for funding 
are formally peer reviewed by experts 
in their field. They are then prioritised 
by quality of science and reviewed by 
the Research Grants Committee. This 
committee makes a recommendation for 
funding to Trustees for their review and 
approval.  In all instances where there 
is a conflict of interest, the committee 
member is excluded from any discussion 
and decision.

For more information on our research 
strategy please refer to our website:  
www.kidneyresearchuk.org/research/
research-strategy

Our Fundraising 
Approach 
The charity is committed to the highest 
standards and ethics through all our 
fundraising activities.  Our income is 
generated from many sources including 
gifts and donations, direct mail, 
sponsored events and treks, community 
fundraising events, corporate gifts and 
charitable grants.  

All our fundraising activities adhere 
to our own Fundraising Promise and 
our Privacy Policy.  In addition, we 
are registered with the Fundraising 
Regulator and Fundraising Preference 
Service and adhere to the Code of 
Fundraising Practice.  More information 
is available on our website or from the 
Fundraising Regulator:

www.kidneyresearchuk.org/ 
privacy-policy
www.kidneyresearchuk.org/about-us/
fundraising-promise
www.fundraisingregulator.org.uk
In summary, when you support us you 
can be sure of the following:

c  We will never sell your contact details to 
anyone;  

c  We will only contact you if you have 
expressed an interest in our work;

c  If we phone you, we will always check 
you are happy to take the call; 

c  If you ask us to change how we 
communicate with you, or stop, we will 
respond swiftly to your request;

c  We do not engage in cold-calling, door 
to door or street fundraising; 

c  We try to ensure no one ever feels 
pressurised to support our work;

c  All our activities are open, fair, honest 
and legal.

In 2017-18, the charity worked with 
carefully selected and monitored partners 
to deliver fundraising activity each of 
whom adhere to the Fundraising Code of 
Practice and have robust policies in place 
regarding vulnerable people and treating 
donors fairly.  We monitor adherence to 
these high standards and also have a 
training programme for all our fundraising 
staff to regularly reinforce our fundraising 
ethics. 

We endeavour to exceed the expectations 
of all our supporters although we did 
receive complaints about our fundraising 
activity during the year. Although these 
represented a very small proportion 
of the number of engagements we 
have with our supporters, we take all 
complaints very seriously and strive 
to learn from them. All the complaints 
we received in the year were promptly 
resolved to the supporters’ satisfaction. 
Only two complaints were escalated to 
the Fundraising Regulator, and  these too 
were fully resolved.

Risk Management
The Finance and Risk Committee regularly 
reviews our exposure to risk and ensures 
that we have adequate risk management 
systems in place. We control risks by 
following recognised good practice in 
checking our compliance with the law 
and other obligations, having clear and 
meaningful measures to check progress 
against our goals and having a structure 
which enables us to take prompt action 
when necessary. 

Processes in place regarding risk 
management include:
c  A monthly review by the Senior 

Management Team of risks to the charity 
as a whole and to significant projects.

c  Risks identified through this process  
are recorded in risk registers under  
the traffic light system to indicate 
relative level of risk exposure, and SMT  
member responsible for mitigating 
controls/actions. 



The trustees (who are also the directors of Kidney Research 
UK for the purposes of company law) are responsible for 
preparing the trustees’ report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the charity and the group and 
of the income and expenditure, of the group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:

c  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

c  observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities Statement 
of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance 
with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable to the United Kingdom and Republic of 
Ireland (FRS102);

c  make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

c  state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

c  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the charity will continue in operation.

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and group and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and 
group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Each of the trustees confirms that:

c  so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the charity’s 
auditor is unaware; and

c  the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a trustee in order 
to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
charity’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 
s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information included on the charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Trustees’ report signed on their behalf by:

John Feehally 
Chairman

Statement of trustees’ 
responsibilities
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c  The Finance and Risk Committee 
carries out a quarterly detailed rolling 
review of risks in the risk register, 
including the extent to which they 
are moderated and controlled and 
to determine movement in the 
risks and any necessary action. 
This is considered an effective way 
for trustees to evaluate significant 
risks to the charity, to establish the 
degree to which they are controlled 
and moderated, and to determine 
necessary action. 

c  The Finance and Risk Committee 
receives reports from our external 
auditors on the effectiveness of 
controls and recommendations.

c  The Finance and Risk committee 
reports on risk to the full Board of 
Trustees.

Principal risks identified and 
controls
c  Delivery of our major projects on 

time and on budget. 
Control – Project Managers and 
Management Committees are in place 
for each major project. They review 
progress and risks on a regular basis 
and action is taken as required.

c  Maintenance of reputation. 
Control – We ensure that we know 
and follow recognised good practice 
in what we do and comply with 
regulations and other obligations. We 
have clear goals for the charity and we 
measure our progress against them 
within a structure which enables us to 
take prompt action when required.

c  Raise enough funds to achieve our 
strategic aims while adhering to our 
fundraising promise and agreed level 
of risk.  
Control – We continue to secure 
income from an increasing number 
of sources and we closely monitor 
performance against targets. 

c  Protection of our data. 
Control – We have processes and 
procedures in place to ensure 
we protect all of our supporters’ 
information to the high standards they 
would expect and we ensure that all 
of our team, including Trustees, are 
trained in line with the most recent 
guidelines and regulations.
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the trustees and members 
of Kidney Research UK

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Kidney Research UK for the 
year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Activities, the Charity Statement of Financial Activities, the 
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland  
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

c  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent 
charitable company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the group’s 
and parent charitable company’s net movement in funds, including 
the income and expenditure, for the year then ended;

c  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

c  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Responsibilities of trustees for the 
financial statements
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement 
set out on page 27, the trustees (who are also the directors of 
the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible 
for assessing the group’s and the parent charitable company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate 
the {group or the parent charitable company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report..

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 
relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

c  the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

c  the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the group’s or the parent charitable company’s ability 
to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the Trustees’ 
Annual Report and the Foreword. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 

Kathryn Burton (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of haysmacintyre, Statutory Auditor 

10 Queen Street Place, London EC4R 1AG

we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the 
audit:

c  the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report (which 
incorporates the strategic report and the directors’ report) 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

c  the Trustees’ Annual Report (which incorporates the strategic 
report and the directors’ report) has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group 
and the parent charitable company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material 
misstatements in the Trustees’ Annual Report (which incorporates 
the strategic report and the directors’ report).

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 and the Charity 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations (as amended) require us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

c  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
charitable company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or

c  the parent charitable company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

c  certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

c  we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Use of our audit report
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006, section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 10 of the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
Auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.
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Consolidated statement  
of financial activities
Year to 31 March 2018

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2018 
Consolidated statement of financial activities Year to 31 March 2018 DRAFT 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Notes 

  Un- 
 restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  
 Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  2018 
 Total 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 Total 
 funds 
 £000’s 

          
Income from:          

Donations and legacies  1  6,390  373  6,763  5,712 

Other trading activities 12  799  -  799  875 

Investment income 2  400  -  400  381 

Income from charitable activities 3  54  2,916  2,970  2,405 
Total income    7,643  3,289  10,932  9,373 
          
Expenditure on:          
Cost of raising funds          
. Costs of raising donations and legacies   1,671  -  1,671  1,766 
. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold 
  and other costs 

   
561 

  
- 

 
561  474 

. Investment management costs   28  -  28  19 
   2,260  -  2,260  2,259 
Expenditure on charitable activities          
. Research    5,735  2,444  8,179  6,715 
. Awareness and education   1,013  159  1,172  1,230 
   6,748  2,603  9,351  7,945 
Total expenditure 4  9,008  2,603  11,611  10,204 
          
Net (expenditure) / income for the year 
before investment gains 
 

  (1,365)  686  (679)  
 

(831) 

Amounts received on merger with Kids Kidney 
Research 

28  -  993  993  - 

          
Net (losses) / gains on investments  11  (136)  -  (136)  1,525 
Net (expenditure) / income for the year    (1,501)  1,679  178  694 

Transfer between funds   9  (9)  -  - 

Net movement in funds   (1,492)  1,670  178  694 
          
Reconciliation of funds          
Fund balances brought forward 
at 1 April 2017 

  9,817  110  9,927  9,233 

Fund balances carried forward 
at 31 March 2018 

  8,325  1,780  10,105  9,927 

All of the group’s activities were derived from continuing operations during the above two financial periods. All 
recognised gains and losses are included in the above consolidated statement of financial activities.  Full prior year 
comparatives are included in note 24. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18| 31

Balance sheet
As at 31 March 2018

Annual Report and Financial Statements – March 2018 
Balance sheet as at 31 March 2018 DRAFT 

 
 

  Group*  Charity 

  
Notes 

  2018 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 £000’s 

  2018 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 £000’s 

          Fixed assets          
Tangible assets 10  364  110  330  74 
Investments 11  8,135  10,617  8,135  10,617 
Investments – shares in subsidiary 11  -  -  150  150 
Total Fixed Assets   8,499  10,727  8,615  10,841 
          
Current assets          
Stocks   62  46  -  - 
Debtors 13  4,747  3,420  4,617  3,302 
Investments 11  9,369  5,164  9,369  5,164 
Cash at bank and in hand   3,751  4,075  3,646  3,965 
Total Current Assets   17,929  12,705  17,632  12,431 
          
Liabilities:          
Creditors: amounts falling due          
within one year 14  (13,730)  (11,195)  (13,734)  (11,220) 
Net current assets   4,199  1,510  3,898  1,211 
          
Total assets less current  
liabilities 

   
12,698 

  
12,237 

  
12,513 

  
12,052 

          
Creditors: amounts falling due          
after one year 15  (2,593)  (2,310)  (2,593)  (2,310) 
Net assets   10,105  9,927  9,920  9,742 
          
The funds of the charity          
Restricted funds          
. Action for Alports Campaign 16  (10)  (22)  (10)  (22) 
. Other restricted funds 16  1,790  132  1,790  132 
   1,780  110  1,780  110 
Unrestricted funds          
. Designated funds 17  6,195  5,680  6,195  5,680 
. General funds   2,130  4,137  1,945  3,952 
Total Charity Funds   10,105  9,927  9,920  9,742 
 
*These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research 
Enterprises Limited. As shown on the charity only statement of financial activities, the net (expenditure) / income of 
the charity was £59,307 (2017 £293,052). 
 
Approved by the Board of Trustees and signed on their behalf by: 
  
 
 
 
John Feehally 
Chairman of Kidney Research UK 
Company Registration Number: 00905963 (England and Wales) 
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Notes 

 2018 
£000’s 

 2017 
£000’s 

      Cash flow from operating activities:      
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities A  1,459  1,658 
      
Cash flow from investing activities:      
Dividends and interest from investments   400  381 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets   (324)  (63) 
Proceeds from the disposal of investments   3,559  1,467 
Purchase of investments   (2,645)  (1,669) 
Net cash provided by investing activities   990  116 
      
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year   2,449  1,774 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April   B  6,202  4,428 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  B  8,651  6,202 
 
Notes to the statement of cash flows for the year to 31 March 2018. 
 

A Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
 

  2018 
£000’s 

 2017 
£000’s 

     Net movement in funds (as per the statement of financial activities)  80  694 
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation charge  70  74 
Losses (gains) on investments  136  (1,525) 
Dividends and interest from investments  (400)  (381) 
(Increase) decrease in stocks  (16)  (1) 
Decrease (increase) in debtors  (1,327)  871 
Increase in creditors  2,818  1,926 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   1,361  1,658 

 
B Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 

       2018 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 £000’s 

         Cash at bank and in hand       3,751  4,075 
Cash held by investment managers    11  4,900  2,127 
Total cash and cash equivalents      8,651  6,202 
 
  

Consolidated statement  
of cash flows
Year to 31 March 2018
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The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the preparation 
of the accounts are laid out below. 
 
Basis of preparation 
These accounts have been prepared for the year to 31 March 2018;  the accounts are presented in pounds sterling 
and are rounded to the nearest thousand.  
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP FRS 102) issued on 
16 July 2014, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the 
Charities Act 2011.  
 
The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.  The accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention with items recognised at cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant 
accounting policies below or the notes to these accounts.  
 
Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees and management to make significant judgements and estimates.   
The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates have been made include: 
 estimating the liability for multi-year grant commitments; 
 estimating the probability of the receipt of legacy income and estimating the amount to be received.  

 
Assessment of going concern 
The trustees have assessed the financial position and have concluded there are no material uncertainties related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the charity to continue as a going concern. The 
trustees are of the opinion that the charity will have sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and 
the most significant areas of judgement that affect items in the accounts are detailed above.  With regard to the 
next accounting period, the year ending 31 March 2019, the most significant areas that affect the carrying value of 
the assets held by the charity are the level of investment return and the performance of the investment markets (see 
the investment policy and the risk management sections of the trustees’ report for more information). 
 
Basis of consolidation 
These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research 
Enterprises Limited, on a line by line basis.  On 1st of September 2017 Kidney Research UK merged with Kids Kidney 
Research.  The net assets of Kids Kidney Research at the point of merger have been shown as a gain in the Statement 
of Financial Activities.  Further details are provided in note 28. 
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These accounts have been prepared for the year to 31 March 2018;  the accounts are presented in pounds sterling 
and are rounded to the nearest thousand.  
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP FRS 102) issued on 
16 July 2014, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the 
Charities Act 2011.  
 
The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.  The accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention with items recognised at cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant 
accounting policies below or the notes to these accounts.  
 
Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees and management to make significant judgements and estimates.   
The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates have been made include: 
 estimating the liability for multi-year grant commitments; 
 estimating the probability of the receipt of legacy income and estimating the amount to be received.  
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trustees are of the opinion that the charity will have sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due and 
the most significant areas of judgement that affect items in the accounts are detailed above.  With regard to the 
next accounting period, the year ending 31 March 2019, the most significant areas that affect the carrying value of 
the assets held by the charity are the level of investment return and the performance of the investment markets (see 
the investment policy and the risk management sections of the trustees’ report for more information). 
 
Basis of consolidation 
These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research 
Enterprises Limited, on a line by line basis.  On 1st of September 2017 Kidney Research UK merged with Kids Kidney 
Research.  The net assets of Kids Kidney Research at the point of merger have been shown as a gain in the Statement 
of Financial Activities.  Further details are provided in note 28. 
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Income recognition  
Income is recognised in the period in which the charity has entitlement, the receipt is probable and the amount of 
income can be measured reliably. Income comprises donations, income from trading activities, income from 
charitable activities and investment income. 
 
Donations & legacies 
Legacies are included in the statement of financial activities when probate is granted, the charity is entitled to the 
legacy and the executors have established there is surplus assets in the estate to pay the legacy, and any conditions 
attached to the legacy are within the control of the charity.   
 
Donations are recognised when the charity has confirmation of both the amount and settlement date, in the event 
of donations pledged but not received, the amount is accrued for where the receipt is considered probable. Where 
the donation is subject to conditions that require a level of performance before the charity is entitled to the funds, 
the income is deferred and not recognised until either those conditions are fully met, or the fulfilment of those 
conditions is wholly within the control of the charity and it is probable that those conditions will be fulfilled in the 
reporting period. 
 
In accordance with the Charities SORP FRS 102 volunteer time is not recognised. 
 
Donated goods  
Donated goods are normally distributed very soon after receipt by the charity, as such stock held at the reporting 
date are immaterial. Under these circumstances, the cost of valuing all donated goods upon receipt by the charity 
outweighs the benefit to the users of the accounts of providing this information. Consequently, donated goods are 
included within income when sold or distributed and no value is placed on stock of such items at the year end. 
 
Grants from government and other agencies have been included as income from charitable activities where these 
amount to a contract for services, but as donations where the money is given in response to an appeal or with 
greater freedom of use, for example monies for core funding. 
 
Investment Income 
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the 
charity. Dividends are recognised once the dividend has been declared and notification has been received of the 
dividend due.  
 
Expenditure recognition  
Expenditure comprises of direct costs and support costs, accounted for on an accruals basis. All expenses, including 
support costs, are allocated or apportioned to the applicable expenditure headings. The classification between 
activities is as follows: 
 
 Expenditure on raising funds includes all expenditure associated with raising funds for the charity. This includes 

investment management fees, staff costs associated with fundraising, the costs associated with fundraising 
trading activity and an allocation of support costs. 
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Expenditure recognition (cont) 
 Expenditure on charitable activities includes all costs associated with furthering the charitable purposes of the 

charity through the provision of its charitable activities. Such costs include grants and awards made for research 
and direct and support costs in respect to education and awareness including governance costs.  

 Grants payable by the charity are included in the statement of financial activities when approved and when the 
intended recipient has either received the funds or been informed of the decision to make the grant and has 
satisfied all performance conditions. Grants approved but not paid at the end of the financial year are accrued. 
Grants where the beneficiary has not been informed or has to fulfil performance conditions before the grant is 
released are not accrued for but are disclosed as financial commitments in the notes to the financial statements. 

 The provision of a multi-year grant is recognised at its present value where settlement is due over more than 
one year from the date of the award, there are no unfulfilled performance conditions under the control of the 
charity that would permit the charity to avoid making the future payments, settlement is probable and the 
effect of the discounting is material. The discount rate used is the average rate of investment yield in the year 
in which the grant is made. This discount rate is regarded by the trustees as providing the most current available 
estimate of the opportunity cost of money reflecting the time value of money to the charity. The effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 

 The pension charge represents payments to a defined contribution scheme which are charged to the statement 
of financial activities in the period to which they relate.   

 
All expenditure is stated inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 
 
Allocation of support and governance costs 
Support costs represent indirect charitable expenditure. In order to carry out the primary purposes of the charity it 
is necessary to provide support in the form of personnel development, financial procedures, provision of office 
services and equipment and a suitable working environment.  
 
Governance costs comprise the costs involving the public accountability of the charity (including audit costs) and 
costs in respect to its compliance with regulation and good practice. Support costs, including staff related costs, 
and governance costs are apportioned based on the staff time spent on each activity. 
 
Tangible fixed assets 
All assets costing more than £500 and with an expected useful life exceeding one year are capitalised. Tangible fixed 
assets are capitalised and depreciated at the following annual rates in order to write them off over their estimated 
useful lives: 
 Leasehold land buildings  Over the life of the lease  
 Computer software and equipment 33.3% per annum based on cost 
 Fixtures, fittings and equipment  15% per annum based on cost 
 Office refurbishment cost  10% per annum based on cost 
 
Fixed asset investments 
Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their transaction value and 
subsequently measured at their fair value as at the balance sheet date using the closing quoted market price.  
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Fixed asset investments (cont) 
Realised gains (or losses) on investment assets are calculated as the difference between disposal proceeds and their 
opening carrying value or their purchase value if acquired subsequent to the first day of the financial year.  
Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as the difference between the fair value at the year end and their carrying 
value at that date.  Realised and unrealised investment gains (or losses) are combined in the statement of financial 
activities and are credited (or debited) in the year in which they arise. 
 
Investments are included within the current assets where it is anticipated that they may need to be utilised to meet 
grant commitments. Investments equating to 50% of grants payable within one year are therefore included as 
current assets. 
 
Debtors 
Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less any provision for non-recoverability. Prepayments are 
valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted to the present value of the future cash receipt where 
such discounting is material. 
 
Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts and instruments that are available on demand or have a maturity 
of less than three months from the date of acquisition. Deposits for more than three months but less than one year 
have been disclosed as short term deposits, with cash placed on deposit for more than one year is disclosed as a 
fixed asset investment. 
 
Creditors and provisions 
Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement and the amount of the 
settlement can be estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are recognised at the amount the charity anticipates 
it will pay to settle the debt. Long term liabilities have not been discounted to the present value of the future cash 
payments on the basis that such discounting is material. 
 
Stocks 
Stocks for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
Fund accounting 
Restricted funds comprise monies raised for, or their use restricted to, a specific purpose, or contributions subject 
to donor imposed conditions.  The designated funds are monies or assets set aside out of general funds and 
designated for specific purposes by the trustees. General funds represent those monies which are freely available 
for application towards achieving any charitable purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects. 
 
Leased assets 
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership remain with the 
lessor are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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1 Donations and legacies 
   

Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  
 Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

   
 2018 
 Total 
 £000’s 

  
 2017 
 Total 
 £000’s 

         Donations, gifts and appeals  2,929  19  2,948  2,553 
Legacies   3,461  354  3,815  3,159 
2018 Total funds  6,390  373  6,763  5,712 
2017 Total funds  5,712  -  5,712  

 
2 Investment income  

   
Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  
 Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

   
 2018 
 Total 
 £000’s 

  
 2017 
 Total 
 £000’s 

         Income from listed investments  377  -  377  352 
Interest receivable  23  -  23  29 
2018 Total funds  400  -  400  381 
2017 Total funds  381  -  381  

 
3 Income from charitable activities 

    
Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  
  Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  
 2018 
 Total 
 £000’s 

  
 2017 
 Total 
 £000’s 

         Grants receivable   54  2,916  2,970  2,405 
2018 Total funds  54  2,916  2,970  2,405 
2017 Total funds  53  2,352  2,405  

 
4 Analysis of total expenditure  
5    

 Grants 
 and project 
expenditure 
 £ 

  
 Directly 
 allocated 
 costs 
 £ 

  
  
 Support 
 costs 
 £ 

  
  
 2018 
 Total 
 £ 

  
 
 2017 
 Total 
 £ 

           Cost of raising funds           
Cost of raising donations and legacies  -  927  744  1,671  1,766 
Fundraising trading: costs of goods sold and 
other costs 

  
- 

  
401 

  
160 

  
561 

  
474 

Investment management costs  -  -  28  28  19 
  -  1,328  932  2,260  2,259 
           
Charitable activities           
Research  7,502  366  311  8,179  6,715 
Awareness and education   246  717  209  1,172  1,230 
  7,748  1,083  520  9,351  7,945 
           
2018 Total funds  7,748  2,411  1,452  11,611  10,204 
2017 Total funds  6,305  2,550  1,349  10,204   
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4 Analysis of total expenditure (cont) 
 

Support costs have been allocated on the basis of proportioning time spent across charitable activities. 

The major components of support costs are as follows: 

   
  
 Staff  
 costs 
 £ 

  
  
 Other 
 overheads 
 £ 

  
  
  
 Other 
 £ 

  
  
 2018 
 Total 
 £ 

         CEO/Human resources  204  67  -  271 
Operations  258  773  -  1,031 
Governance  91  59  -  150 
Total support costs   553  899  -  1,452 
 

Significant overhead costs, defined as those in excess of £100,000, comprise of irrecoverable VAT and Head Office 
rent. 

 
5 Grants payable 

The charity makes grants to both individuals and institutions in accordance with its grant making policy set out in 
the trustees’ report.  A reconciliation of the grants payable and grants commitments figures shown in these financial 
statements is as follows: 
 
  2018 

£000’s 
 2018 

£000’s 
 2017 

£000’s 
 2017 

£000’s 
         Grant commitments at 1 April     12,637    11,173 
Commitments made in the year   7,516    5,941   
Kids Kidney Research commitments on merger  608    -   
Adjustments and lapsed grant commitments  (172)    (78)   
Grants payable     7,952    5,863 
Grants paid during the year    (5,082)    (4,399) 
Commitments at 31 March     15,507    12,637 
         Commitments at 31 March are payable as follows:         
Within one year (note 13)    12,914    10,327 
After more than one year (note 14)    2,593    2,310 
    15,507    12,637 

 
In the year, 59 grant-funded research applications were awarded to institutions, an analysis by host institution with 
details of the grants awarded during the year, forming part of these audited financial statements, can be found on 
the Charity’s website at https://www.kidneyresearchuk.org/about-us/annual-review-and-accounts 
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6 Net income (expenditure) for the year 

This is stated after charging:  Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  2018 
 Total 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 Total 
 £000’s 

         Staff costs (note 7)  2,107  -  2,107  1,866 
Auditors’ remuneration         
. Statutory audit services  16  -  16  15 
. Other services  1  -  1  2 
Depreciation  70  -  70  74 
Irrecoverable VAT  144  -  144  183 
 

7 Employment costs 
Employment costs during the year were as follows: 
 
  2018 

£000’s 
 2017 

£000’s 
     Wages and salaries  1,763  1,557 
Social security costs  164  145 
Other pension costs and salary sacrifice  180  164 
  2,107  1,866 

There were five new roles created in the year, a compliance team assistant was recruited to provide support to the 
team working in regards to the new General Data Protection Regulation. Two new roles within insight and 
engagement, a database officer to meet the increasing demands of the organisation and a project manager to 
improve how knowledge and information is shared within the organisation. A further two roles were created to 
develop and maintain relationships with industry and to assist on the collaboration with clinical study groups and 
rare disease groups.  

The figures above include redundancy and termination payments of £25,725 (2017: £4,537). 

The average number of employees and average full-time equivalent during the year, analysed by time expended on 
the following activities, was as follows: 
 
 
 
Group & Charity: 

 Ave 
Headcount 

2018 
Number 

 Ave 
Headcount 

2017 
Number 

 Ave  
FTE 

2018 
Number 

  Ave 
 FTE 
 2017 
 Number 

         Generation of funds  36  37  29   29 
Charitable activities         
. Research  11  11  10   9 
. Awareness and education   18  12  14   11 
Governance  1  1  1   1 
  66  61  54   50 
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7 Employment costs (cont) 
 
The number of employees who earned £60,000 or more (including taxable benefits but excluding employer pension 
contributions) during the year was as follows: 
  2018 

Number 
 2017 

Number 
     £60,000 - £70,000  2  1 
£70,000 - £80,000  2  2 
£100,001 - £110,000  -  1 
£110,001 - £120,000  1  - 
 
The key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling, running and operating the 
charity on a day to day basis comprise the Senior Management Team (see page 26). The total remuneration 
(including taxable benefits and employer's pension contributions) of the  key  management  personnel  for the year 
was £652,487 (2017 - £534,623). 
 

8 Trustees’ expenses and remuneration 
None of the trustees received remuneration in respect of their services as trustees during either year.  
 
During the year ended 31 March 2018 out of pocket travelling expenses amounting to £2,964 (2017 - £3,350) were 
reimbursed to 10 (2016 – 7) trustees.  During the year the Chief Executive was reimbursed expenses totalling £1,731  
(2017 - £2,613). 

In accordance with normal commercial practice, the charity has purchased insurance to protect trustees from claims 
arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on charity business.  The insurance policy provides 
cover up to £1 million (2016 - £1 million) and the cost for the year ended 31 March 2017 was £323 (2017 - £1,528). 
 

9 Taxation 
Kidney Research UK is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on income 
derived from its charitable activities, as it falls within the various exemptions available to registered charities. 
 
The subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited, donates its taxable profits, if any, to Kidney Research UK each 
year (note 11).   
  

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2018
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10 Tangible fixed assets 
 
 
 
Group 

  Leasehold 
 land and 
 buildings 
 £000’s 

  Computer 
 software & 
 equipment 
 £000’s 

  Fixtures, 
 fittings & 
 equipment* 
 £000’s 

  
 
 Totals 
 £000’s 

         Cost         
At 1 April 2017  285  407  64  756 
Additions  125  87  112  324 
At 31 March 2018  410  494  176  1,080 
         
Depreciation         
At 1 April 2017  245  355  46  646 
Charge for year  23  41  6  70 
At 31 March 2018  268  396  52  716 
         

Net book values         
At 31 March 2018  142  98  124  364 
At 31 March 2017  40  52  18  110 

 
 
 
 
 
Charity 

  
 Leasehold 
 land and 
 buildings 
 £000’s 

  
 Computer 
 software & 
 equipment 
 £000’s 

  
 Fixtures, 
 fittings & 
equipment* 
 £000’s 

  
 
 
 Total 
 £000’s 

         Cost         
At 1 April 2017  212  334  7  553 
Additions  125  87  109  321 
At 31 March 2018  337  421  116  874 
         
Depreciation         
At 1 April 2017  191  283  6  480 
Charge for year  21  40  3  64 
At 31 March 2018  212  323  9  544 
         
Net book values         
At 31 March 2018  125  98  107  330 
At 31 March 2017  21  52  1  74 

 
Leasehold, fixtures, fittings and equipment includes assets with a net book value of £295,770 at 31 March 2018 
(2017: £nil) in relation to office refurbishment.  These assets are depreciated over a period of ten years as set out in 
the accounting policies. 
  

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2018
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11 Investments 
 
Group  

 2018 
£ 

 2017 
£ 

     Listed investments     
Market value of listed investments at 1 April   13,653  11,925 
Additions at cost  2,645  1,670 
Disposals at book value (proceeds: £3,559; realised loss: (£662)   (4,221)  (1,435) 
Net unrealised investment (losses) gains  527  1,493 
Market value of listed investments at 31 March   12,604  13,653 
     
Cash held by investment managers for re-investment  4,100  1,329 
Cash held on deposit  800  798 
  17,504  15,780 
Charity     
Shares in subsidiary undertaking  150  150 
  17,654  15,930 
      
Cost of listed investments at 31 March  11,987  10,639 

 
Allocated as follows: 
 
  

 2018 
£ 

 2017 
£ 

     Fixed asset investments  8,135  10,616 
Current asset investments  9,369  5,164 

  17,504  15,780 

 
 

12 Shares in subsidiary undertaking 
The charity has one wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited (Company number:00905963), 
which is incorporated in England and Wales.  At 31 March 2018 Kidney Research UK owned the entire called up 
ordinary share capital of 334,500 ordinary £1 shares in Kidney Research Enterprises Limited.  At 31 March 2018, the 
aggregate of the share capital and reserves of Kidney Research Enterprises Limited amounted to £334,500 (2017 -
£334,500). 
 
The subsidiary’s principal activity is to undertake trading and retail activities for the benefit of Kidney Research UK.  
Kidney Research Enterprises Limited donates its taxable profit, if any, to Kidney Research UK.  A summary of the 
subsidiary’s results is shown below.  Audited financial statements will be filed with the Registrar of Companies. 
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12 Shares in subsidiary undertaking (cont) 
 
 
 
Profit and loss account 

 2018 
Total 
£000’s 

 2017 
Total 
£000’s 

     Turnover  799   875 
Expenses  (562)   (474) 
Net profit  237   401 
Other interest receivable and similar income  -   - 
Profit for the financial year before taxation  237   401 
Taxation  -   - 
Payment under Gift Aid scheme to Kidney Research UK  (237)   (398) 
Profit for the financial year  -   3 
Accumulated losses at 1 April   -   (3) 
Accumulated losses at 31 March   -   - 

 
The trustees are satisfied that the activities of the subsidiary are essential to the future growth of the charity both 
for the acquisition of new supporters and volunteers through the lottery, events and retail products and for 
obtaining donations, which are reflected in the financial statements of the charity.  
 

13 Debtors 
 
Group  

 2018 
£000’s 

 2017 
£000’s 

     Taxation recoverable  80  74 
Legacies receivable  2,189  1,445 
Trade debtors  368  120 
Other debtors  2,017  1,706 
Prepayments and accrued income  93  75 
  4,747  3,420 
 
Charity 

    

     Taxation recoverable  74  54 
Legacies receivable  2,189  1,445 
Trade debtors  329  96 
Other debtors  2,016  1,707 
Prepayments and accrued income 
Amount owed by subsidiary undertaking  

 9 
- 

 - 
- 

  4,617  3,302 

Included within other debtors is a total of £976,158 (2017 - £537,705) which relates to grant debtors receivable after 
one year. 
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14 Creditors:  amounts falling due within one year 
 
Group 

 2018 
£000’s 

 2017 
£000’s 

     Expense creditors  70  89 
Social security and other taxation  63  61 
Grants payable (note 5)  12,914  10,327 
Other creditors  179  129 
Accruals and deferred income  504  589 
  13,730  11,195 
Charity     
     Amount owed to subsidiary undertaking   210  128 
Expense creditors  10  5 
Social security and other taxation  63  61 
Grants payable (note 5)  12,914  10,327 
Other creditors  179  129 
Accruals and deferred income  358  570 
  13,734  11,220 

Included within the above is deferred income as set out below: 
  2018 

£000’s 
   Deferred income brought forward at 1 April 2017  478 
Additional income deferred during the year  175 
Brought forward funds released in the year  (478) 
Deferred income carried forward at 31 March 2018  175 

 
15 Creditors:  amounts falling due after more than one year 

 
Group and Charity 

 2018 
£000’s 

 2017 
£000’s 

Grants payable (note 5)  2,593  2,310 

 
16 Restricted funds 

The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising the following donations and grants to be 
applied for specific purposes: 

  

   
 

At 1st April 
2017 

 
 
 

Income 

Expenditure 
/ transfers 

& grants 
committed 

 
 

At 31st 
March 2018 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Interrogating basement membrane to understand        
Alport Syndrome. Action for Alports Campaign (22) 12 - (10) 
Restricted funds in deficit (22) 12 - (10) 
          

Kids Kidney Research Merger - 1,369 (689) 680 
          

NURTuRE - Undisclosed Pharmaceutical funding via        
National Renal Translation Research Enterprise – 
Collaboration 

 
(36) 

 
856 

 
(303) 

 
517 

          

Third of three £500,000 Research & Innovation Grants         
. John Feehally / Stoneygate - 621 (621) - 
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16 Restricted funds (cont) 
 

  

   
 

At 1st April 
2017 

 
 
 

Income 

Expenditure 
/ transfers 

& grants 
committed 

 
 

At 31st 
March 

2018 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Proactive IV Iron Therapy in Dialysis Patients Trial (PIVOTAL)        
. Vifor Inc - 427 (427) - 
          

eGFR graphs for early identification of chronic kidney disease       
.(ASSIST-CKD)  Health Foundation - 111 (111) - 
     
Iron & Muscle         
. Vifor Inc - 413 (187) 226 
          

Masonic Trust   255 - 255 
          

Organ Donation Awareness Project         
.Scottish Government - 24 (23) 1 
          

Empowering patients to participate in their dialysis 
treatment 

        

. Sheffield Teaching Project - 10 (10) - 
          

Helping patients make the right decisions about their treatment       
. NHS Blood & Transplant - 9 (9) - 
          

Organ Donation and Stem Cell Awareness Project         
. Department of Health - 3 (3) - 
          

The Renal Association - 12 (12)   
          

David Kerr Fellowship Campaign 18 1 (19) - 
          

Answers for aHus Campaign 88 18 (18) 88 
          

Making Every Kidney Count 43 14 (57) - 
Nottingham Kidney Trust 3 5 (2) 6 
          

World Kidney Day * - 14 (14) - 
          

Fellows Day & Alumni * 16 52 (60) 8 
          

Morrisons   20 (11) 9 
          

Various below £10,000 - 38 (37) 1 
Restricted funds in surplus 132 4,270 (2,612) 1,790 

Total restricted funds 110 4,282 (2,612) 1,780 

 
 

    

* Please refer to Kidney Research UK website for further details: www.kidneyresearchuk.org  

 

The above figures represent only the restricted element of grant funding utilised in the year.  Additional amounts 
may have been reflected as unrestricted income or as deferred income or may be utilised in previous/future years.  

The project entitled ‘Interrogating basement membrane to understand Alport Syndrome’ is showing as a negative 
balance because the charity has underwritten this part of the cost while Action for Alports Campaign completes its 
fundraising for this project.  
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17 Designated funds 
   

 At 
 1 April 
 2017 
 £000’s 

  
 
 New 
designations 
 £000’s 

   
 Released/ 
 utilised in 
  year 
 £000’s 

  
 At 
 31 March
 2018 
 £000’s 

         Research and Awareness Fund  5,400  6,160  5,400  6,160 
Property Fund  280  -  245  35 
  5,680  6,160  5,645  6,195 

 
The Research and Awareness Fund represents monies which have been set aside from unrestricted funds by the 
trustees for research project commitments (£5,784,527) and raising awareness of kidney health (£375,000). 
 
The Property Fund represents monies set aside by the trustees to meet end of lease expenses and expenditure on 
properties.   
 

18 Analysis of net assets between funds 
 
 
Group 

    Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  Total 
 2018 
 £000’s 

         Fund balances at 31 March 2018         
are represented by:         
Tangible fixed assets    364  -  364 
Fixed asset investments    8,135  -  8,135 
Current assets    10,359  7,472  17,831 
Creditors: amounts falling         
due within one year    (8,341)  (5,389)  (13,730) 
Creditors: amounts falling after one year    (2,290)  (303)  (2,593) 
Total net assets    8,227  1,780  10,007 

 

The total unrealised gains as at 31 March 2018 constitute movements on revaluation and are as follows: 

 
  2018 

£000’s 
 2017 

£000’s 
     Unrealised gains included above:     
On tangible fixed assets  -  - 
On investments  2,661  3,000 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March   2,661  3,000 
     
Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains     
Unrealised gains at 1 April 2017  3,000  1,549 
Less: in respect to disposals in the year  (866)  (43) 
  2,134  1,506 
Add: net (losses) gains arising on revaluation arising in the year  527  1,494 
     
Total unrealised gains at 31 March   2,661  3,000 
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18 Analysis of net assets between funds (cont) 
 
 
 
Charity 

    Unrestricted  
 funds  
 £000’s 

  Restricted 
 funds  
 £000’s 

  Total 
 2018 
 £000’s 

         Fund balances at 31 March 2018         
are represented by:         
Tangible fixed assets    330  -  330 
Fixed asset investments    8,285  -  8,285 
Current assets    10,062  7,472  17,534 
Creditors: amounts falling         
due within one year    (8,582)  (5,389)  (13,971) 
Creditors: amounts falling after one year    (2,290)  (303)  (2,593) 
Total net assets    7,805  1,780  9,585 

 
The total unrealised gains as at 31 March 2018 constitute movements on revaluation and are as follows: 
 
  2018 

£000’s 
 2017 

£000’s 
     Unrealised gains included above:     
On tangible fixed assets  -  - 
On investments  2,476  2,815 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2018  2,476  2,815 
     
Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains     
Unrealised gains at 1 April   2,815  1,364 
Less: in respect to disposals in the year  (866)  (43) 
Add: net (losses) gains arising on revaluation arising in the year  1,949  1,321 
  527  1,494 
Total unrealised gains at 31 March   2,476  2,815 
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19 Operating leases 
At 31 March 2018 the charity had total future minimum commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as 
follows: 
 
    Land and buildings 
 
Group 

      2018 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 £000’s 

         Operating lease payments which falls due:         
Within one year      189  201 
Between two and five years      586  166 
Thereafter      489  26 
      1,264  393 

 
    Land and buildings 
 
Charity 

      2018 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 £000’s 

         Operating lease payments which falls due:         
Within one year      119  101 
Between two and five years      477  - 
Thereafter      476  - 
      1,072  101 

 
20 Liability of members 

The Charity is constituted as a company limited by guarantee. In the event of the charity being wound up members 
are required to contribute an amount not exceeding £1. 
 

21 Pensions 
The charitable company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. During the year contributions totalling 
£185,075 (2017 -£164,440) were made, with £15,771 (2017 -£18,150) payable at the year end. 
 

22 Related party transactions 
During the year donations of £3,367 (2016/2017 £2,785) were received from trustees. 
 
Grants awarded to a trustee or an institution with which they are related are highlighted are as follows:  
 

Trustee Institution Amount 
Anna-Maria Steel & Charlie Thompson Newcastle University £337,454.97 
Fiona Karet Cambridge University £420,129.25 
Jill Norman UCL Institute of Child Health £410,292.35 
John Feehally University of Leicester £98,468.36 

 
Transactions between Kidney Research UK and its wholly owned trading subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises 
Limited are determined by an agreed methodology of inter-company recharges based on the resources available 
across both entities. 
 
There were no other related party transactions in the year which require disclosure (2016/2017 - none). 
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23 Charity statement of financial activities. Year to 31 March 2018 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Notes 

  Un- 
 restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  
 Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  2018 
 Total 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  2017 
 Total 
 funds 
 £000’s 

          
Income from:          

Donations and legacies  1  6,390  373  6,763  5,712 
Other trading activities 12  238  -  -  397 
Investment income 2  400  -  400  381 
Income from charitable activities 3  54  2,916  2,970  2,405 
Total income    7,082  3,289  10,371  8,895 
          
Expenditure on:          
Cost of raising funds          
. Costs of raising donations and legacies   1,671  -  1,671  1,766 
. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold 
  and other costs 

   
- 

  
- 

 
-  - 

. Investment management costs   28  -  28  19 
   1,699  -  1,699  1,785 
Expenditure on charitable activities          
. Research    5,735  2,444  8,179  6,715 
. Awareness and education   1,013  159  1,172  1,230 
   6,748  2,603  9,351  7,945 
Total expenditure 4  8,447  2,603  11,050  9,730 
          
Net (expenditure) / income for the year 
before investment gains 
 

  (1,365)  686  (679)  
 

(835) 

Amounts received on merger with Kids Kidney 
Research 

28  -  993  993  - 

          
Net (losses)  / gains on investments  11  (136)  -  (136)  1,525 
Net (expenditure) / income for the year    (1,501)  1,679  178  690 
Transfer between funds   9  (9)  -  - 
Net movement in funds   (1,492)  1,670  178  690 
          
Reconciliation of funds          
Fund balances brought forward 
at 1 April 2017 

  9,632  110  9,742  9,052 

 
Fund balances carried forward 
at 31 March 2018 

   
8,140 

  
1,780 

  
9,920 

 

  
9,742 
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24 Prior year statement of financial activities 31 March 2017 
 

 
 
 
 

 Un- 
restricted 

funds 
£’000’s 

  
Restricted 

funds 
£’000’s 

 2017 
Total 
funds 
£’000’s 

       
Income from:       

Donations and legacies   5,712  -  5,712 
Other trading activities  875  -  875 
Investment income  381  -  381 
Income from charitable activities  53  2,352  2,405 
Total income   7,021  2,352  9,373 
       
Expenditure on:       
Cost of raising funds       
. Costs of raising donations and legacies  1,766  -  1,766 
. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold 
  and other costs 

  
474 

  
- 

 
474 

. Investment management costs  19  -  19 
  2,259  -  2,259 
       
Expenditure on charitable activities       
. Research   4,122  2,593  6,715 
. Awareness and education  1,065  165  1,230 
  5,187  2,758  7,945 
Total expenditure  7,446  2,758  10,204 
       
Net (expenditure) income for the year before 
investment gains 

 (425)  (406)  (831) 

       
Net gains (losses) on investments   1,525  -  1,525 
       
Net (expenditure) income for the year  1,100  (406)  694 
Transfer between funds  63  (63)  - 
Net movement in funds  1,163  (469)  694 
Reconciliation of funds       
Fund balances brought forward at  
1st April 2016 

 8,654  579  9,233 

Fund balances carried forward at 31st March 2017  9,816  110  9,926 
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24 Prior year statement of financial activities 31 March 2017 
 

 
 
 
 

 Un- 
restricted 

funds 
£’000’s 

  
Restricted 

funds 
£’000’s 

 2017 
Total 
funds 
£’000’s 

       
Income from:       

Donations and legacies   5,712  -  5,712 
Other trading activities  875  -  875 
Investment income  381  -  381 
Income from charitable activities  53  2,352  2,405 
Total income   7,021  2,352  9,373 
       
Expenditure on:       
Cost of raising funds       
. Costs of raising donations and legacies  1,766  -  1,766 
. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold 
  and other costs 

  
474 

  
- 

 
474 

. Investment management costs  19  -  19 
  2,259  -  2,259 
       
Expenditure on charitable activities       
. Research   4,122  2,593  6,715 
. Awareness and education  1,065  165  1,230 
  5,187  2,758  7,945 
Total expenditure  7,446  2,758  10,204 
       
Net (expenditure) income for the year before 
investment gains 

 (425)  (406)  (831) 

       
Net gains (losses) on investments   1,525  -  1,525 
       
Net (expenditure) income for the year  1,100  (406)  694 
Transfer between funds  63  (63)  - 
Net movement in funds  1,163  (469)  694 
Reconciliation of funds       
Fund balances brought forward at  
1st April 2016 

 8,654  579  9,233 

Fund balances carried forward at 31st March 2017  9,816  110  9,926 
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25 Prior year statement of restricted funds 31 March 2017 
   

 At 
 1 April 
 2016 
 £’000’s 

  
 
 Income 
 
 £’000’s 

 Expenditure 
/transfers 
& grants 
committed 
 £’000’s 

  
 At 
31 March
 2017 
 £’000’s 

Interrogating basement membrane to 
understand Alport Syndrome 

        

. Action for Alports Campaign  (50)  28  -  (22) 
Restricted funds in deficit  (50)  28  -  (22) 
         

Proactive IV Iron Therapy in Dialysis 
Patients Trial (PIVOTAL) 

        

. Vifor Inc  -  742  742  - 
 

        
eGFR graphs for early identification of 
chronic kidney disease (ASSIST-CKD)  

        

. Health Foundation  -  170  170  - 
 

        
FSGS Studies: 
-Mechanisms of podocyte damage  
-*TRPC6 inhibitors for treatment of FSGS 
mutations 

        

. Mrs Watters  38  -  38  - 
         

Making Every Kidney Count         
. Mrs Watters – transfer of funds  -  38  -  38 
         

Fellows’ Day 2016/Alumni Programme  25  37  46  16 
           

The Peer Educator Project in the Pakistani 
Muslim Community in Birmingham  

        

. Department of Health  -  (6)  (6)  - 
         

Organ Donation and Stem Cell Awareness 
Project 

        

. Department of Health  -  2  2  - 
         

Encouraging Organ Donation in Glasgow         
. Scottish Government  -  16  16  - 
         

Empowering patients to participate in 
their dialysis treatment 

        

. Sheffield Teaching Project  -  12  12  - 
         

Encouraging organ donation in the 
Bangladeshi Community 

        

. Department of Health  -  20  20  - 
         

Helping patients make the right decisions 
about their treatment 

        

. NHS Blood & Transplant  -  30  30  - 
         

Patient Survey on Secondary 
Hyperparathyroidism treatments 

        

. Amgen  -  5  5  - 
UKRRS  -  5  5  - 
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25 Prior year statement of restricted funds 31 March 2017 (cont) 
 
 At 
 1 April 
 2016 
 £’000’s 

  
 
 
 Income 
 £’000’s 

  Expenditure 
 /transfers 
 & grants 
 committed 
 £’000’s 

  
 At 
 31 March
 2017 
 £’000’s 

David Kerr Fellowship         
. David Kerr Fellowship Campaign  17  1  -  18 
         
Answers for aHus         
. Answers for aHus Campaign  38  50  1  87 
         
Baxter Peer Educator         
. Baxter Healthcare  -  17  17  - 
         
World Kidney Day 2016 
 

 -  10  10  - 

Second of Three £500,000 Research & 
Innovation Grants 

        

.John Feehally / Stoneygate  -  379  379  - 
         
Garfield Weston  500  -  500  - 
         
NuRTURE – Undisclosed Pharmaceutical 
funding via National Unified Renal 
Translational 
Research Enterprise - Collaboration 

  
- 

  
475 

  
511 

  
(36) 

         
Various Trust Donations         
. Crerar Hotels  
. Masonic Charitable Foundation 
. Grant towards on-going medical research 
 

 - 
- 
5 

 12 
145 
78 

 12 
145 
78* 

 - 
- 
5 

Nottingham Kidney Trust  6  9  12  3 
         
Medimmune  -  105  105  - 
         
The Renal Association  -  9  9  - 
         
Various  -  1  1  - 
         
Restricted funds in surplus  629  2,363  2,860  132 
         
Total restricted funds  579  2,391  2,860  110 
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26 Prior year statement of designated funds 
   

 At 
 1 April 
 2016 
 £000’s 

  
 
 New 
designations 
 £000’s 

   
 Released/ 
 utilised in 
  year 
 £000’s 

  
 At 
 31 March
 2017 
 £000’s 

         Research and Awareness Fund  4,849  5,400  4,849  5,400 
Property Fund  353  200  273  280 
  5,202  5,600  5,122  5,680 

The Research and Awareness Fund represents monies which have been set aside from unrestricted funds by the 
trustees for research project commitments (£5,024,659) and raising awareness of kidney health (£375,000).  
 
The Property Fund represents monies set aside by the trustees to meet end of lease expenses and expenditure on 
properties.   
 

27 Prior year statement of analysis of net assets between funds 

 
 
Group 

    Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  Restricted 
 funds 
 £000’s 

  Total 
 2017 
 £000’s 

         Fund balances at 31 March 2017         
are represented by:         
Tangible fixed assets    110  -  110 
Fixed asset investments    10,616  -  10,616 
Current assets    7,814  4,891  12,705 
Creditors: amounts falling         
due within one year    (6,942)  (4,253)  (11,195) 
Creditors: amounts falling after one year    (1,782)  (528)  (2,310) 
Total net assets    9,816  110  9,926 
         
 
 
 
Charity 

      
Unrestricted  
 funds  
 £000’s 

   
 Restricted 
 funds  
 £000’s 

   
Total 

 2017 
 £000’s 

         Fund balances at 31 March 2017         
are represented by:         
Tangible fixed assets    74  -  74 
Fixed asset investments    10,766  -  10,766 
Current assets    7,539  4,891  12,430 
Creditors: amounts falling         
due within one year    (6,965)  (4,253)  (11,218) 
Creditors: amounts falling after one year    (1,782)  (528)  (2,310) 
Total net assets    9,632  110  9,742 
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28 Merger with Kids Kidney Research 
On the 1st of September 2017, Kids Kidney Research merged with Kidney Research UK.  

Kids Kidney Research was established in 1967 to raise money to fund research and advances in treatment in 
childhood kidney disease. Uniting with Kidney Research UK has released new money for dedicated paediatric 
research. 

The merger took effect by the transfer of the assets, liabilities and undertakings of Kids Kidney Research to the 
Kidney Research UK for nil consideration with Kidney Research UK assuming its liabilities and obligations.   

The net assets transferred to the charity amounted to £992,570.  The assets transferred are summarised as follows: 
 
 
 

      
 
 £000’s 

     Current assets    1,601 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year    (186) 
Creditors: amounts falling after one year    (422) 
Total net assets transferred    993 

In the period between 1st September and 31 March 2018, income of £372,784 was received in relation to Kids Kidney 
Research activities.  Expenditure of £689,456 was made in relation to Kids Kidney Research activities during this 
period.   
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In the period between 1st September and 31 March 2018, income of £372,784 was received in relation to Kids Kidney 
Research activities.  Expenditure of £689,456 was made in relation to Kids Kidney Research activities during this 
period.   



ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 | 55



Ambassadors
Bruno Loubet
Ed Drake
Frances Edmonds
Dame Jacqueline Wilson
Julia Watson
Kate Ford
Lauren Laverne
Lawrence Keogh
Lucy Davis
Matthew Amroliwala
Nina Wadia
Dame Patricia Routledge DBE
Richard Pitman
Stefan Booth

President
Lord Chandos, Baron Lyttleton of Aldershot

Company secretary
Anne-Marie McCarthy

Chief Executive Officer
Sandra Currie 

Registered office
Nene Hall  
Lynch Wood Park
Peterborough PE2 6FZ

0300 303 1100
www.kidneyresearchuk.org

       

Company registration number
00905963 (England and Wales)

Charity registration numbers
252892 (England and Wales)
SC 039245 (Scotland)

Auditor

haysmacintyre
26 Red Lion Square
London
WC1R 4AG

Bankers

Barclays Bank
1 Church Street
Peterborough
PE1 1XE

Investment advisers

Cazenove Capital Management Ltd
12 Moorgate 
London
EC2R 6DA

Solicitors 

Eversheds
1 Royal Standard Place 
Nottingham 
NG1 6FZ 
United Kingdom

Greenwoods
Monkstone House 
City Road 
Peterborough 
PE1 1JE

Designed by www.adeptdesign.co.uk


